

**COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES** 

**CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER** Fesia A. Davenport

# PUBLIC SAFETY CLUSTER AGENDA REVIEW MEETING

DATE: Wednesday, June 21, 2023 TIME: 9:30 a.m.

THIS MEETING WILL CONTINUE TO BE CONDUCTED VIRTUALLY AS PERMITTED UNDER THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS' FEBRUARY 7, 2023, ORDER SUSPENDING THE APPLICATION OF BOARD POLICY 3.055 UNTIL JUNE 30, 2023. TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING CALL TELECONFERENCE NUMBER: (323) 776-6996 ID: 169948309# Click here to join the meeting

#### AGENDA

Members of the Public may address the Public Safety Cluster on any agenda item by submitting a written request prior to the meeting. Two (2) minutes are allowed per person in total for each item.

#### 1. CALL TO ORDER

#### 2. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT

- **3. INFORMATIONAL ITEM(S):** [Any Informational Item is subject to discussion and/or presentation at the request of two or more Board offices with advance notification]:
  - A. NONE

#### 4. **PRESENTATION/DISCUSSION ITEM(S)**:

- A. Board Briefing: OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL (OIG) QUARTERLY REPORT BRIEFING Speaker(s): Max Huntsman and Dara Williams (OIG)
- **B.** Board Briefing: OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL (OIG) MONTHLY BRIEFING Speaker(s): Max Huntsman (OIG)
- **C.** Board Briefing: CIVILIAN OVERSIGHT COMMISSION (COC) MONTHLY BRIEFING Speaker(s): Danielle Vappie (COC)

Wednesday, June 21, 2023

D. Board Briefing: PUBLIC SAFETY DEPARTMENTS BUDGET BRIEFING Speaker(s): Rene Phillips and Staff (CEO)

### **CLOSED SESSION ITEM(S):**

**CS-1** <u>CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-EXISTING LITIGATION</u> (Subdivision (a) of Government Code Section 54956.9)

> Jacqueline Kroll vs. County of Los Angeles, et al. United States District Court Case No. 2:21-CV-00832

Department: Sheriff

#### 5. PUBLIC COMMENTS

6. ADJOURNMENT

#### 7. UPCOMING ITEM(S):

- Board Briefing: ROSAS BRIEFING
   Speaker(s): Hugo Macias (Sheriff's)
- B. Board Letter: REQUEST APPROVAL OF INCIDENTAL AND NON-INCIDENTAL EXPENSES FOR FISCAL YEARS 2023-24 AND 2024-25 Speaker(s): Robert Smythe (Probation)
- C. Board Letter: APPROVE SOLE SOURCE CONTRACT WITH 9<sup>TH</sup> WONDER GLOBAL, LLC TO PROVIDE CONSULTING SERVICES Speaker(s): Bryan Aguilera and Laura Avelar (Sheriff)

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO EMAIL A COMMENT ON AN ITEM ON THE PUBLIC SAFETY CLUSTER AGENDA, PLEASE USE THE FOLLOWING EMAIL AND INCLUDE THE AGENDA NUMBER YOU ARE COMMENTING ON:

#### PUBLIC\_SAFETY\_COMMENTS@CEO.LACOUNTY.GOV



# **Reform and Oversight Efforts:** Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department

January to March 2023

Issued June 7, 2023

# Table of Contents

ABOUT QUARTERLY REPORTS	
MONITORING SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT'S OPERATIONS	1
Deputy-Involved Shootings	1
Analysis of Deputy-Involved Shooting of Francisco Garcia	8
Factual Summary	
Office of Inspector General Concerns	10
Sheriff's Department Review of Force.	13
Recommendations	14
District Attorney Review of Deputy-Involved Shootings	
Homicide Bureau's Investigation of Deputy-Involved Shootings	15
Internal Criminal Investigations Bureau	
Internal Affairs Bureau	
Civil Service Commission Dispositions	
The Sheriff's Department's Use of Unmanned Aircraft Systems	
Narcan Use by the Sheriff's Department	
How Narcan Works to Reduce Overdose Deaths.	
Narcan at the Sheriff's Department	
Narcan in the jails.	19
Narcan in patrol	20
Using Narcan before subjects are unresponsive	21
CUSTODY DIVISION	22
Distribution of Thermal Garments	
Availability of Personal Hygiene Products	
In-Custody Deaths	
Office of Inspector General Site Visits	
Taser Use in Custody	
Use-of-Force Incidents in Custody	
HANDLING OF GRIEVANCES AND COMMENTS	

Office of Inspector General Handling of Comments Regarding Department	
Operations and Jails	31
Handling of Grievances Filed by People in Custody	32
Sheriff's Department's Service Comment Reports	33

# **ABOUT QUARTERLY REPORTS**

Quarterly reports provide an overview of the Office of Inspector General's regular monitoring, auditing, and review of activities related to the Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department (Sheriff's Department) over a given three-month period. This quarterly report covers Department activities and incidents that occurred between January 1, 2023 and March 31, 2023, unless otherwise noted. Quarterly reports may also examine particular issues of interest. The particular issues of interest in this report are: Narcan use by the Sheriff's Department, an analysis of a deputy-involved shooting, distribution of thermal garments in the jails, and the availability of personal hygiene products in custody.

# **MONITORING SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT'S OPERATIONS**

#### **Deputy-Involved Shootings**

The Office of Inspector General reports on all deputy-involved shootings in which a deputy intentionally fired a firearm at a human, or intentionally or unintentionally fired a firearm and a human was injured or killed as a result. This quarter there were eight incidents in which people were shot or shot at by Sheriff's Department personnel. Deputies' gunfire struck six people, five fatally. The Office of Inspector General staff responded to each of these deputy-involved shootings. If deputy-involved shootings continue at the same rate as during this first quarter, there would be thirty-two shootings by the end of this year.

The Office of Inspector General presents the following shooting summaries based on the limited, preliminary information provided by the Sheriff's Department. While the Office of Inspector General attends the walk-through at the scene of the shooting, receives preliminary memoranda from the Sheriff's Department with summaries, and attends the Sheriff's Department Critical Incident Reviews, the office does not have statements of the involved deputies and witnesses until the Sheriff's Department completes its investigation. The Sheriff's Department permits the Office of Inspector General's staff limited access to monitor the ongoing investigations of deputy-involved shootings.

#### Palmdale Station: Hit Shooting – Fatal

The Sheriff's Department reported that on January 8, 2023, at approximately 7:40 a.m., Palmdale Station deputies responded to a scene in a very remote area regarding a homicide investigation involving the stabbing death of an adult woman. Homicide

Bureau investigators present on scene heard a noise coming from behind a chain link fence adjacent to the crime scene. When deputies investigated the noise, they saw a male Black adult behind the fence who was armed with a knife. The deputies cut an opening in the fence and contacted the man. They issued commands for the man to drop the knife, and he refused to comply. The deputies attempted to de-escalate the situation by talking with the suspect for approximately 20-30 minutes. At some point, the man advanced toward the deputies, at which time a reserve deputy deployed a 40mm less-lethal round, to no effect. The man then charged the other deputies, at which time a deputy-involved shooting occurred with six deputies firing a total of 46 rounds. No deputies were injured during the incident. The man died at the scene. It was later determined that he was the suspect involved in the homicide that was under investigation.

The Department reported that all involved deputies activated their body-worn cameras in accordance with Sheriff's Department Policy. Portions of the video were shown at the Sheriff's Department's Critical Incident Review.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry

Were the deputies who employed weapons, including the reserve deputy, properly trained and qualified on those weapons, including the non-lethal weapons and the AR-15 rifle? Given the remote area, were there other ways of containing a suspect armed with a knife while protecting deputy safety, including calling in additional law enforcement or mental health resources? Did the deputies form a tactical plan prior to or during their extended contact with the suspect? Was the reserve deputy who deployed the 40mm baton launcher physically positioned in a manner which exposed them to potential crossfire? Why were there so many deputies involved in the use of lethal force and why were so many rounds fired? Was a supervisor present on scene and in command at the time of the shooting? Was the Mental Evaluation Team (MET) requested for assistance?

#### Santa Clarita Station: Hit Shooting – Fatal

The Sheriff's Department reported that on January 11, 2023, at approximately 11:00 p.m., a deputy responded to a trespassing call regarding a White man sleeping near the entrance of a large retail store. The dispatcher had information that the suspect had threatened people and was uncooperative with mall security personnel, which was not relayed to the responding deputy or to another deputy who was en route as backup. The deputy approached the man and asked him to leave the area. The man refused and advanced upon the deputy, while threatening to kill the deputy. The suspect punched the deputy in the face, and the deputy then punched the suspect, the suspect

continued advancing toward the deputy, at which point the deputy fired two rounds at the man. The man was unarmed.

Medical personnel treated the man for his injuries and transported him to the hospital. The man later succumbed to his injuries and died. The involved deputy was also treated for physical injuries sustained during the altercation.

The incident was captured on the body-worn camera of the responding deputy as well as on closed-circuit television (CCTV) from a nearby store. There were no additional witnesses to the incident.

Because the man was unarmed, the California Department of Justice police shooting investigation team was notified and is conducting the investigation pursuant to AB 1506.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry:

Why didn't the deputy wait for the back-up unit to arrive prior to contacting the man? Did the deputy maintain an appropriate amount of distance from the man when making the initial contact? Did the deputy have reasonable alternatives to using deadly force, including less-lethal force options? Could the deputy have retreated to reassess the situation? Why didn't the dispatcher provide the deputies with all known information regarding the man's threatening behavior?

#### West Hollywood Station: Non-Hit Shooting

The Sheriff's Department reported that on January 21, 2023, at approximately 4:50 p.m., the Beverly Hills Police Department notified the West Hollywood Station that an Automated License Plate Reader in their city detected a stolen vehicle, which was possibly headed toward their jurisdiction. At approximately 5:03 p.m., a Sheriff's Department patrol unit occupied by two sergeants saw the suspected stolen vehicle and became involved in a short vehicle pursuit. They followed the vehicle into a cul-de-sac along with another patrol unit occupied by a single deputy. They parked their vehicles side by side in the street, facing the suspect vehicle. As the sergeants got out of their patrol car and were positioned behind their doors, and the lone deputy was preparing to exit his patrol car, the suspect attempted to maneuver out of the cul-de-sac by driving between the patrol units.

The sergeant who was behind the passenger-side door of a patrol car discharged his firearm five times toward the suspect vehicle, reportedly fearing that the suspect would kill or injure them by hitting their patrol cars as he and the other sergeant took cover behind the open car doors and the deputy was still in the patrol car. The suspect continued driving and fled the area.

A search by both West Hollywood deputies and Aero Bureau located neither the suspect nor the vehicle. However, the suspect, a male White adult was later identified and arrested by the Long Beach Police Department in a separate incident involving another suspected stolen vehicle.

The incident was captured on the body-worn camera of the assisting deputy. However, the sergeants failed to activate their body-worn cameras. The incident was also recorded on CCTV from a nearby hotel.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry:

Was the positioning of the two patrol vehicles tactically sound and in compliance with Sheriff's Department policy? Did the sergeant who fired consider the backdrop, i.e., a nearby hotel entrance and the other responding deputy? Did the firing sergeant have a reasonable alternative to avoid any threat from the vehicle by getting out of the path of the fleeing car? Did the firing sergeant violate the Sheriff's Department policy on shooting at moving vehicles? Was Aero Bureau requested for assistance at the beginning of the vehicle pursuit? Why did the sergeants fail to activate their body-worn cameras in violation of Sheriff's Department policy?

#### Altadena Station: Hit Shooting – Fatal

The Sheriff's Department reported that on January 22, 2023, at approximately 5:15 p.m., they received a call for service regarding a man with a knife who was assaulting a person at a gas station. Before deputies arrived, the suspect, a male Black adult, stabbed another man with a pair of scissors, injuring his face. When deputies arrived, the suspect walked away from the gas station. Deputies followed him in their patrol car. The suspect turned a corner, encountered an elderly woman, and stabbed her in the face. As the man continued to assault the woman with the scissors, two deputies fired at the suspect. The suspect fell to the ground, then stood up again and advanced towards the deputies, who then fired several more rounds at the suspect. The suspect sustained multiple gunshot wounds to his torso and his legs. He died at the scene. The two deputies fired a total of 13 rounds. Deputies recovered a pair of scissors.

The Sheriff's Department initially determined that the subject was armed and began investigating accordingly. However, two to three days after the shooting, the California Department of Justice police shooting team reviewed the shooting and took over the investigation as it deemed it a qualifying event under AB 1506 because the suspect may not have been armed at the time of the deputy-involved shooting.

The incident was captured on the body-worn cameras of the two responding deputies. A portion of the incident was also recorded on CCTV from the gas station.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry:

Were any less lethal options available? Were the deputies positioned in a manner that exposed them to crossfire, thereby endangering the deputies? Was the backdrop considered with regard to endangering bystanders? When did the Sheriff's Department notify the California Department of Justice police shooting investigation team of the incident? Did all deputies activate their body-worn cameras as required by Sheriff's Department policy?

# **Operation Safe Streets Maywood: Hit Shooting – Fatal**

The Sheriff's Department reported that on January 26, 2023, at approximately 5:40 a.m., Operation Safe Streets Bureau (OSS) was serving a search/arrest warrant at a residence in Maywood related to a shooting in East Los Angeles. After deputies announced their presence at the residence, they observed a 70-year-old Hispanic man walking inside the home, holding a firearm and apparently agitated. Deputies ordered the man to drop the weapon multiple times. He did not comply, and instead walked towards the deputies and pointed the gun at them. Two deputies fired ten rounds at the man, striking him in the torso. The man died at the scene.

According to the Department, the incident was captured on the body-worn cameras of OSS deputies on scene.

# Areas for Further Inquiry:

Considering the initial observations made by OSS deputies, was it an option for them to retreat and contain the location while asking for assistance from the Special Enforcement Bureau and Mental Evaluation Team?

# **Operation Safe Streets Compton: Hit Shooting – Non-Fatal**

The Sheriff's Department reported that on January 31, 2023, at approximately 10:30 a.m., OSS deputies with the Parole Compliance Team were attempting to serve a warrant upon a parole absconder at a residence in the city of Compton. A current resident at the parolee's last known address informed deputies that the parolee now lived nearby in a tent near a school. The deputies proceeded in their patrol vehicle to the area described by the witness and eventually located the parolee, a Hispanic adult man. After looking in the direction of the patrol car, the parolee shot at the patrol vehicle several times. The deputies returned fire, and the parolee fled on foot. Shortly after, a caller reported to the Compton Station that the suspect was in their backyard a short

distance from the shooting. Deputies set up a containment in the area and requested assistance from the Aero Bureau.

The airship saw the suspect running through several residential yards. As the deputies tried to apprehend the parolee, he shot at deputies positioned in the containment area. The deputies returned fire, wounding the parolee. The parolee was arrested and transported for medical treatment. Deputies recovered a loaded firearm near the bushes where the parolee had emerged and shot at them as they tried to apprehend him. During this incident, six deputies fired a total of 44 rounds.

According to the Department, the deputies were all equipped with body-worn cameras.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry:

During the initial shooting involving OSS deputies, did they consider their backdrop, which included a school during daytime hours? During the later shooting, did deputies adequately consider their backdrop, which included residential homes? Were the number of rounds fired reasonable? Were all body-worn cameras activated in compliance with Sheriff's Department policy?

#### Palmdale Station: Hit Shooting – Fatal

The Sheriff's Department reported that on February 10, 2023, at approximately 10:20 p.m., Palmdale Station deputies responded to a residence regarding a domestic violence call. A woman had contacted the Sheriff's Department stating that her husband hit her and put her in a headlock. She also relayed to the dispatcher that the suspect was "drunk" but did not have any weapons at the time of the call. During the call, the suspect could be heard in the background making a statement about suicide by cop.

After contacting the suspect's wife and confirming her statements to the dispatcher, the deputies entered the residence to apprehend the suspect and found him in the backyard. The suspect, a male White adult, was wielding a sword with a blade approximately three feet long. Deputies ordered him to drop his weapon. The suspect refused and advanced upon the deputies. One deputy discharged a 40mm less-lethal round, which struck the suspect. Simultaneously, a separate deputy fired one round from his firearm, which struck the suspect in the face. The suspect died at the scene. The sword carried by the suspect was recovered near his body.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry:

Were the responding deputies aware that the man had made suicidal statements? If so, was the Mental Evaluation Team requested? Did the deputies form a tactical plan prior to entering the residence to search for the suspect? Would it have been possible for the

deputies to create distance between themselves and the suspect? Was the use of deadly force at the same time as the less-lethal option necessary in this circumstance? Were all body-worn cameras activated as required by Sheriff's Department policy?

#### **Industry Station: Non-Hit Shooting**

The Sheriff's Department reported that on March 10, 2023, at approximately 2:30 p.m., Industry Station deputies responded to a call for service related to a suspect shooting at pedestrians from his residence. Several deputies responded to the residence. Deputies observed the suspect, a male White adult, push open a window screen from a front window and point a rifle at them. The deputies took cover behind their patrol vehicles and aimed their firearms at the suspect. The deputies ordered the suspect to drop the weapon and to exit the residence. The suspect fired several rounds at the deputies from his rifle. While the suspect continued shooting, three deputies returned fire. In total, three deputies fired one round from an AR-15 rifle, five rounds from a handgun, and ten rounds from an AR-15 rifle.

After the exchange of fire between the suspect and deputies, the suspect remained in his residence, though was no longer visible to the deputies. At that time, deputies were unable to determine whether the suspect had been injured. The Special Enforcement Bureau (SEB) responded and assumed command of the incident.

A Crisis Negotiation Team (CNT) also responded to the situation. The CNT attempted to negotiate with the suspect without success. SEB deputies deployed tear gas into the residence, but the suspect did not leave the residence.

Approximately 40 hours later, due to the length of the incident and the need to relieve SEB deputies, a Los Angeles Police Department Special Weapons and Tactics team (SWAT) took command of the incident. SWAT employed several tactics to attempt to locate and observe the suspect in his home, including removing a portion of the roof. At approximately 3:54 p.m., on March 12, 2023, SWAT entered the residence and found the suspect deceased in the home. The entire incident lasted approximately 49 hours.

The suspect fired his rifle at SEB deputies over 100 times during this incident and SEB deputies fired no rounds. One round struck an SEB vehicle.

This incident generated a great deal of news coverage due to its length and magnitude.

The Los Angeles County Medical Examiner-Coroner's preliminary review determined that the suspect did not suffer from any gunshot wounds and that the manner of death was suicide.

According to the Department, the incident was captured on several body-worn cameras.

#### Areas for Further Inquiry:

Were the body-worn cameras of each involved deputy activated as required by Sheriff's Department policy?

# Analysis of Deputy-Involved Shooting of Francisco Garcia

In late December 2022, the Sheriff's Department posted the public materials from its administrative investigation into the 2016 shooting of Francisco Garcia by a Sheriff's Department deputy.<sup>1</sup> The case presents unusual issues because the deputy was charged with voluntary manslaughter and ultimately acquitted by a jury in connection with the shooting. The case raises particular concerns about the Sheriff Department's practices in an administrative investigation following a criminal prosecution, which the Office of Inspector General analyzes here. Independent of the factual and policy outcome in this individual matter, the absence of a thoroughly documented and analytic process undermines public confidence in the Los Angeles Sheriff's Department's disciplinary system and prevents transparency. The Office of Inspector General has long advocated a well-documented and evidence-based review of use of force and potential misconduct, and this review does not meet that standard.

**Factual Summary.** On the afternoon of February 16, 2016, a deputy assigned to patrol at the Cerritos Sheriff's Station pulled into a gas station in the city of Norwalk to investigate a possible stolen white Acura that was parked at a gas station pump. He pulled his patrol vehicle behind the Acura and turned on his overhead patrol lights. According to witnesses, the deputy briefly approached the driver-side window, where a Hispanic man, later identified as Mr. Garcia, was seated in the driver's seat. The deputy then went to the rear of the Acura, to check the car's license plate. As the deputy looked at the rear license plate, the Acura began to pull away from the gas pump. The deputy stated that he "felt like [he] was boxed in" by the gas pump behind him and in danger of being run over and said he fired three to four rounds down into the vehicle from a distance of three to five feet. Video shows that the Acura was parked several feet from the gas pump, and as the car began to move, the deputy rushed from the rear of the car toward the driver's side door. Witnesses described the car "rolling" or moving slowly, at approximately five miles per hour. The car moved past the pump, proceeded forward

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The <u>investigative materials</u> are available on the <u>Sheriff's Department's Deputy-Involved Shooting Case Files page</u> and include the officer-involved shooting form, the investigative summary, and the Executive Force Review Committee findings.

and toward its left. Video then shows the deputy running alongside the driver's side of the car, at or behind its rear wheel. Witnesses described the deputy following beside the vehicle's driver side as the car moved, shooting at the driver. The Homicide Bureau investigation revealed that the deputy fired seven rounds, rather than three to four. One witness testified that as the deputy shot at the car, the driver while still seated in the car had his hands raised up as if in surrender. The car rolled forward, with the deputy running alongside, until it collided with the gas station sign on the curb of the property and came to a standstill, at which point the deputy pulled the driver out of the car. Mr. Garcia had multiple gunshot wounds. The deputy attempted to render first aid before other deputies and medical personnel relieved him. Mr. Garcia was later pronounced dead at the hospital.

The deputy reported being struck in the knees by the car as it moved; however, no witnesses saw the deputy being struck by the car, and from video it is difficult to see how the deputy could be struck by the vehicle. The deputy was taken to the hospital for treatment, but the treating doctor did not find any significant injuries on the deputy consistent with being struck by the car.

The Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office (District Attorney's Office) filed one count of voluntary manslaughter, a felony, against the deputy. To file a criminal charge, the District Attorney's Office must determine that the case "can be proven in court beyond a reasonable doubt."<sup>2</sup> The case went to trial in November 2021. The deputy did not testify at the hearing. At the conclusion of the two-and-a-half-week trial, the jury acquitted the deputy on the sole charge.

The Sheriff's Department then conducted its internal investigation to determine if the deputy had violated any Sheriff's Department policies. Given that this was a deputy involved shooting, by policy, at the conclusion of the internal affairs investigation, the case must be presented to the Executive Force Review Committed (EFRC) to determine if the deputy's use of force and tactics violated the Sheriff's Department's policy.<sup>3</sup> If the three-member panel of Sheriff's Department commanders determines there has been a policy violation, they propose the appropriate level of discipline for the misconduct. If the discipline imposed is a suspension exceeding 15 days, including termination of employment, the case must go to a Case Review. Case Review is chaired by the Undersheriff and two Assistant Sheriffs who review the case and render their findings as to the appropriate level of discipline based on the policy violations.<sup>4</sup> In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office, <u>About LADA – Office FAQs.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Manual of Policies and Procedures Section 3-10/140.00, "Executive Force Review Committee."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Manual of Policies and Procedures Section 3-09/325.00, "Case Review Committee."

general, the Office of Inspector General has the opportunity to review the investigative file prior to the EFRC hearing, and can articulate any concerns to EFRC panel members in advance of and at the review in order to ensure those concerns can be adequately explored through questions and discussion as part of the review process. Office of Inspector General staff have the same opportunity to articulate concerns and engage in the process during Case Review.

Disciplinary matters before the Sheriff's Department differ from criminal cases in a number of respects. First, instead of a violation of criminal law, like manslaughter, the Sheriff's Department considers only whether the deputy violated Sheriff's Department policy and training, which may impose more demanding standards than the criminal law. Second, unlike a criminal case, where the facts establishing a conviction must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the Sheriff's Department in these disciplinary matters need only show that a preponderance of evidence demonstrates a policy violation occurred. Finally, in disciplinary proceedings, the deputy does not have a right to remain silent. The Sheriff's Department may compel the deputy to provide an account on penalty of further discipline, any statements the deputy makes can be admitted and considered as part of the evidence the panels consider before rendering their decision on if the deputy violated Sheriff's Department policies.

**Office of Inspector General Concerns.** The Office of Inspector General voiced a number of concerns about the shooting to the Sheriff's Department during the review process. Two Sheriff's Department policies most directly govern the shooting: the policy on shooting at moving vehicles, and the policy on use of force.

At the time of this shooting, the Sheriff's Department policy on shooting at moving vehicles read, in relevant part:

The use of firearms against motor vehicles is inherently dangerous and almost always ineffective. For the purpose of this section, an assaultive motor vehicle shall not presumptively justify a Department member's use of deadly force. A Department member threatened by a motor vehicle shall move out of its path instead of discharging a firearm at it or its occupant(s), allow the vehicle to pass, and utilize other tactical or investigative means to apprehend the suspect....

When on foot, Department members...shall not position themselves or remain in the path of a motor vehicle.... The primary tactical consideration shall be for Department personnel to move out of the path of a vehicle.<sup>5</sup>

None of the evidence in this case suggested that the car posed a direct threat to the deputy, much less that the deputy could not have readily moved out of the path of the vehicle, rather than shoot the driver. The deputy stayed between the side of the car and the gas pump during his interaction with the driver. Neither witnesses to the incident nor the medical exam of the deputy provided any evidence the deputy had been hit by the car. The deputy was at the rear of the car when it began to pull away slowly. First, the facts suggest that the deputy did not face a direct threat from an "assaultive vehicle" and that therefore there was no threat that justified the shooting at any time. In his interview with Homicide and IAB investigators, the deputy stated that the car hit him on his knees and that he felt he was "boxed in" by the gas pump behind him and could not get out of the way of the car. He also stated that he saw the driver reach behind the front passenger seat and feared that the driver was reaching for a weapon. But even if the deputy had reasonably perceived a threat from the vehicle, under the policy, such a threat does not "presumptively justify a ... use of deadly force." Rather, the policy clearly requires that deputies facing a threat from a vehicle "shall move out of its path instead of discharging a firearm at it or its occupant." Here, rather than move away from the path of the car, the deputy not only fired but ran alongside the car and appeared to continue to shoot, even as the car was moving away from him.

In February 2016, the Sheriff's Department's other relevant policies included MPP3-10/200.00, "Use of Firearms and Deadly Force," which stated that "discharging a firearm at another human being is an application of deadly force and must, therefore, be objectively reasonable." The policy also stated that deputies "may use deadly force in self-defense or in the defense of others, only when they reasonably believe that death or serious physical injury is about to be inflicted upon themselves or others," and "may use deadly force to effect the arrest or prevent the escape of a fleeing felon only when they have probable cause to believe that the suspect represents a significant threat of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In 2016, when the shooting occurred, the policy was set forth in the Manual of Policies and Procedure (MPP) section 3-10/220.00 ("Use of Firearms Against Vehicles and/or Occupants of Vehicles"). It has been amended and re-codified in <u>MPP Section 3-10/055.00</u>, but still sets forth a substantially similar policy:

Firearms should not be discharged at a stationary or moving vehicle, the occupants of a vehicle, or the tires of a vehicle unless a person in the vehicle is imminently threatening a Department member or another person present with deadly force by means other than the moving vehicle. The moving vehicle itself shall not presumptively constitute a threat that justifies the use of deadly force.

death or serious physical injury to the member or other person(s)." <u>MPP section, 3-10/030.00, "Unreasonable Force and Duty to Intervene,"</u> stated that deputies "shall only use force which is objectively reasonable," defining unreasonable force to be "force that is unnecessary or excessive given the totality of the circumstances," consistent with the leading U.S. Supreme Court case on unconstitutional force, *Graham v. Connor* (1989) 490 U.S.386.<sup>6</sup> *Graham* pointed to three factors which can help aid the analysis:

- 1. The severity of the crime,
- 2. The immediacy of the threat,
- 3. Actively resisting arrest or attempting to flee.

Here, the deputy might reasonably have suspected Mr. Garcia of possessing a stolen vehicle and even possibly of being involved in its theft, both felonies but both property crimes rather than crimes of violence. Even if the deputy feared that Mr. Garcia might be reaching for something in the backseat that the deputy thought could be a gun, he was driving away.

As set forth in the discussion of the policy on shooting at moving vehicles, neither the deputy nor any other person seemed to face any immediate threat from the car pulling away slowly. To the extent the deputy perceived a threat, his position at the rear driver's side should have allowed him simply to let the car move away. Instead, he ran forward then alongside the car, shooting at the driver in apparent violation of the Sheriff's Department policy on shooting at moving vehicles.

Finally, the deputy's pursuit of the car and firing at its driver in a public gas station on a busy street raises additional concerns. The car, as it moved away, did not present an immediate danger to the nearby civilians. The deputy's response, however, placed the public at risk of being hit by the deputy's fire or by the car, if the deputy incapacitated the driver. One witness testified at the jury trial that as the deputy was shooting at the driver, his gun was pointed in their direction; thus, they, too, could have been hit by the deputy's bullets. Another witness testified that if the car had not come to a stop and had continued its path with the deputy shooting at it, they, too, would have been in the line of fire. Given the fact that this was a slow-moving vehicle, the deputy had ample time to distance himself and to find a place of safety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In 2019, the California legislature passed legislation, AB 392 and SB 230, imposing a higher standard for peace officer's use of deadly force under California law than under *Graham*'s standards and setting forth particular requirements for law enforcement agencies' policies on use of force. The Sheriff's Department has since modified its use of force policies to comply with these changes in the law, but this analysis cites the use-of-force policies in effect at the time of the incident.

Sheriff's Department Review of Force. The Sheriff's Department originally indicated that this case would proceed to Case Review following the EFRC. Yet inexplicably, and without a discussion of all of the factors mentioned above, the EFRC panel determined that, while there were some shortcomings in the deputy's tactics in approaching the incident, there were *no violations* of either the policy on use of deadly force or the policy on shooting at moving vehicles and did not reach any findings that required the matter to advance to a Case Review. This is despite the fact that the filing by the District Attorney's Office indicated that the deputy's conduct amounted to voluntary manslaughter, which clearly equates to a use of force that is **out of policy**. In this context it is important to note that in order to be a defense to manslaughter, a belief in the necessity to use force in defense of oneself or others must be based upon a belief in imminent danger of being killed or suffering great bodily injury, that the person using force must reasonably believe that the immediate use of deadly force was necessary to defend against the danger, and the defendant used no more force than was reasonably necessary.<sup>7</sup> It is difficult, if not impossible, to reconcile the District Attorney's Office decision to file charges with the Sheriff's Department's finding that the force used in the shooting was within policy.<sup>8</sup>

The fact that a jury did not convict based on the higher standard for a criminal case does not relieve the Sheriff's Department from its obligation to engage in the rigorous process of reviewing the use of force, assessing policy violations, and then determining discipline. Because the case did not proceed to Case Review, the Sheriff's Department did not give the attention of its highest-ranking command staff to one of the highest profile shootings in recent years, and one where the Sheriff's Department's final determination of the incident conflicts with the determinations of the District Attorney's Office. Additionally, while the EFRC panel's findings memorandum describes the tactics that it believed departed from training, it lacks any documentation of the panel's analysis of the use of force or the reasoning behind the panel's determination that the deputy's force complied with policy. The lack of any documentation of the panel's reasoning on finding the use of force within policy deprives the public, other deputies, and other branches of the County (including the Office of Inspector General) of a full understanding of how the Department applies its policies on deadly force and shooting at moving vehicles in practice. In this case, the panel's findings memorandum contains

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Judicial Council of California Criminal Jury Instructions, <u>CALCRIM 505 Justifiable Homicide: Self-Defense or</u> <u>Defense of Another</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As noted in the investigative summary, the deputy provided IAB investigators with a list of witnesses whose trial testimony he described as contradicting their earlier statements. The Office of Inspector General has reviewed the list, none of which so clearly contradicted any prior statements as to eliminate the concerns articulated here.

no indication whether the panel credited the deputy's fear that Mr. Garcia might be reaching for a gun, or that he might be hit by the car, or that the deputy could not reasonably have gotten out of the path of the vehicle, or what evidence it believed supported its determination. The Sheriff's Department need not take this approach. The District Attorney's Office, when declining to file charges in shootings by peace officers, issues detailed memoranda explaining their analysis of the facts and law and the reasons why they determine the shooting cannot be proved criminal beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>9</sup> Other law enforcement agencies similarly provide full analysis of the facts and evidence that support a finding that a peace officer used deadly force within that agency's policy.<sup>10</sup>

**Recommendations.** The Office of Inspector General recommends that the EFRC panel engage in a robust discussion in each use of force case as to deputies' actions prior to using force, an analysis of what led the deputies to use force, an analysis of the deescalation tactics used, if any, and a review of the totality of circumstances. Indeed, recent changes to California law governing peace officers' use of deadly force from AB 392, which went into effect in 2020, now require consideration of de-escalation options and a deputies' conduct leading up to the shooting under the higher "necessary" standard for peace officers' use of deadly force in Penal Code section 835a(c). The Office of Inspector General also recommends that EFRC set forth in its findings not only the reasons it found any policy violated, but its findings and reasoning supporting a determination that a use of deadly force complied within Sheriff's Department policy. The Office of Inspector General also recommends that the Sheriff's Department amend its procedures to require a Case Review in all deputy-involved uses of force that resulted in a criminal filing by the District Attorney's Office.

# **District Attorney Review of Deputy-Involved Shootings**

The Sheriff's Department's Homicide Bureau investigates all deputy-involved shootings in which a person is hit by a bullet. The Homicide Bureau submits the completed criminal investigation of each deputy-involved shooting which results in a person being struck by a bullet and which occurred in the County of Los Angeles to the District Attorney's Office for review and possible filing of criminal charges.

Between January 1, 2023 and March 31, 2023, the District Attorney's Office issued findings on three shooting cases involving the Sheriff's Department's employees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See generally Los Angeles County District Attorney's Office, Officer-Involved Shootings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See, e.g., Los Angeles Police Department, <u>Los Angeles Police Department, Categorical Use of Force 2022</u> (setting forth detailed summaries of the findings on uses of deadly force by Los Angeles Police Department officers).

- In the August 16, 2017, fatal shooting of Kenneth Lewis, Jr., the District Attorney opined in a <u>memorandum dated February 6, 2023</u>, that there was insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Deputy Rothrock did not act lawfully in self-defense and defense of others at the time he fired his weapon.
- In the October 10, 2021, fatal shooting of Isaiah Guevara, the District Attorney opined in a <u>memorandum dated February 6, 2023</u>, that Deputy Parga acted lawfully.
- In the October 6, 2020, non-fatal shooting of Hermes Aparicio, the District Attorney opined in a <u>memorandum dated March 7, 2023</u>, that there was insufficient evidence to prove that Deputy La Torre did not act in lawful self-defense when he fired his duty weapon.

#### Homicide Bureau's Investigation of Deputy-Involved Shootings

For the present quarter, the Homicide Bureau reports 17 cases open and under investigation related to shootings involving Sheriff's Department personnel.

The oldest case in which the Homicide Bureau maintains an active investigation is related to an October 19, 2021, shooting which occurred in the jurisdiction of Temple Station. For further information on that shooting, please refer to the Office of Inspector General's report <u>Reform and Oversight Effort: Los Angeles Sheriff's Department,</u> <u>October to December 2021</u>.

This quarter, the Sheriff's Department reported it sent six deputy-involved shooting cases to the LADA for filing consideration.

# **Internal Criminal Investigations Bureau**

The Sheriff's Department's Internal Criminal Investigations Bureau (ICIB) reports directly to the Division Chief and the Commander of the Professional Standards Division. ICIB investigates allegations of criminal misconduct committed by Sheriff's Department personnel in Los Angeles County.<sup>11</sup>

The Sheriff's Department reports ICIB has 71 active cases. This quarter, the Sheriff's Department reports sending five cases to the LADA for filing consideration. The LADA is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Misconduct alleged to have occurred in other counties is investigated by the law enforcement agencies in the jurisdictions where the crimes are alleged to have occurred.

still reviewing 21 cases for filing. The oldest open case that ICIB has submitted to the LADA for filing consideration is related to conduct that occurred in 2018, which ICIB presented to the LADA in July of 2018 and is still being reviewed.

#### **Internal Affairs Bureau**

The Internal Affairs Bureau (IAB) conducts administrative investigations of policy violations by Sheriff's Department employees. It also responds to and investigates deputy-involved shootings and significant use-of-force cases. If the LADA declines to file a criminal action against the deputies involved in a shooting, IAB reviews the shooting to determine whether Sheriff's Department personnel violated any policies during the incident.

Administrative investigations are also conducted at the unit level. The subject's unit and IAB determine whether an incident is investigated by IAB or remains a unit-level investigation based on the severity of the alleged policy violation(s).

This quarter, the Sheriff's Department reported opening 146 new administrative investigations. Of these 146 cases, 64 were assigned to IAB, 58 were designated as unit-level investigations, and 24 were entered as criminal monitors. In the same period, IAB reports that 113 cases were closed by IAB or at the unit level. There 449 pending administrative investigations. Of those 449 investigations, 306 are assigned to IAB and the remaining 143 are pending unit-level investigations.

# **Civil Service Commission Dispositions**

There were eleven final decisions issued by the Civil Service Commission this quarter. Of those eleven, seven decisions sustained the Sheriff's Department's discipline, two reduced the discipline, one overturned the discipline and one case was withdrawn.

# The Sheriff's Department's Use of Unmanned Aircraft Systems

The Sheriff's Department reports it deployed its Unmanned Aircraft Systems (UAS) seven times between January 1, 2023 and March 31, 2023.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on January 2, 2023, to assist Special Enforcement Bureau (SEB) in an authorized search and rescue mission for a homicide victim.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on January 3, 2023, to assist SEB in an authorized search and rescue mission for a homicide victim.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on January 17, 2023, to assist SEB in an authorized search and rescue mission to locate a missing hiker.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on January 24, 2023, to assist SEB in obtaining visual contact of a barricaded suspect who had previously shot at deputies at the site of the incident. Ultimately, the suspect surrendered and was taken into custody.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on February 15, 2023, to assist SEB to search the interior of the incident site and obtain visual contact of a barricaded suspect who was suspected of committing a murder. Ultimately, the suspect surrendered and was taken into custody.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on March 9, 2023, to assist the Department in its response to a suspect barricaded in a vehicle who was suspected of being under the influence of an intoxicant.

The Sheriff's Department deployed a UAS on March 10, 2023, to assist the Department in its response to an active-shooter incident. The UAS was used to observe the suspect throughout the incident.

#### Narcan Use by the Sheriff's Department

Since 2017, the Sheriff's Department has equipped deputies with Narcan, a medication that can rapidly block the effects of opioids and revive a person experiencing an opioid-related overdose, with minimal risk of serious side effects. As set forth below, the Sheriff's Department has effectively deployed Narcan in custody and patrol and unquestionably saved lives. However, an incident from June of last year raises questions about whether the Sheriff's Department's policy may encourage deputies to be too cautious in some situations and that deputies on patrol may be more cautious than deputies in a custodial setting. The Office of Inspector General recommends that the Sheriff's Department consider strengthening its policy to require deputies on patrol to administer Narcan where they encounter signs of an overdose, as deputies in custody are required to do, and that the Sheriff's Department examine the possibility of authorizing deputies to administer Narcan where they have clear evidence a person has taken dangerous amounts of opioids, even before the person presents symptoms.

How Narcan Works to Reduce Overdose Deaths. Narcan (a brand name for the medication naloxone) works by attaching itself to the same brain receptors that receive

opioids.<sup>12</sup> By blocking the opioid molecules from attaching themselves to the receptors which control breathing, Narcan can reverse the effects of what otherwise be a fatal opioid overdose, thus saving lives.<sup>13</sup>

When used promptly after an overdose occurs, studies have shown Narcan can save lives, reducing opioid-related deaths by nine to eleven percent.<sup>14</sup> In 2014, the state of New York trained several police agencies across the state on how to use and administer naloxone (the generic name of the drug, which is now recognized by the brand name "Narcan").<sup>15</sup> The New York Health Department estimates that from 2014 to 2022, trained officers administered naloxone to 11,873 people, of whom eighty-seven percent survived.<sup>16</sup>

According to the National Institute of Drug Abuse, there is "no evidence of significant adverse reactions" to Narcan.<sup>17</sup> Narcan is generally regarded as safe even when administered to a person suffering from something other than an opioid overdose.<sup>18</sup> Narcan may therefore be used by first responders who find a person unresponsive without knowing the cause. If the person is suffering an opioid overdose, Narcan may revive them; if it is something else, the medication is still generally safe, and first responders can try other avenues to save the person's life.

**Narcan at the Sheriff's Department.** The Sheriff's Department's authority to use Narcan in the field comes from the Department of Public Health, which has granted the Sheriff's Department a standing order to permit deputies to use Narcan on "a person who may be experiencing a potentially life-threatening opiate-related overdose (as evidenced by respiratory depression or unresponsiveness)." The Sheriff's Department

https://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/aids/general/opioid overdose prevention/docs/fact sheet law enforcemen t.pdf (Accessed April 11, 2023).

Administering Narcan to a person experiencing an opioid overdose may cause acute withdrawal and accompanying symptoms that are uncomfortable but not life-threatening. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> <u>California Department of Public Health Statewide Naloxone Standing Order Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)</u>, September 2022.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Rees et al. 2017. "With a Little Help From My Friends: The Effects of Naloxone Access and Good Samaritan Laws on Opioid-Related Deaths." National Bureau of Economic Research, February 2017.

http://www.nber.org/papers/w23171.pdf (Accessed April 11, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> New York State Department of Health, "The New York State Opioid Overdose and Intranasal Naloxone Program for Law Enforcement."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> National Institute on Drug Abuse, "Naloxone for Opioid Overdose: Life-Saving Science."

https://nida.nih.gov/publications/naloxone-opioid-overdose-life-saving-science (Accessed April 11, 2023).

requires all deputies to be trained on proper use of Narcan, including both the signs and symptoms of an overdose and how to administer the nasal spray. The Sheriff's Department issues deputies Narcan in single-dose, nasal-spray canisters, shown here:



The Sheriff's Department trains deputies on Narcan in the jail operations training course, which they take before being assigned to custodial positions, and then again in the patrol course they take before deploying to the field. In addition, the CPR refresher course that deputies must take every two years covers Narcan and its use.

**Narcan in the jails.** The Custody Division has Narcan readily available for its custodial personnel to use and encourages personnel to use it on anyone they suspect is experiencing narcotic related distress. In custody, the Sheriff's Department also requires that custody personnel who find an inmate unresponsive "shall" administer Narcan, as well as employing a defibrillator, absent "clear and unmistakable signs ... that the inmate is deceased and that efforts at resuscitation will be fruitless (such as rigor mortis, incineration, or decapitation)." <u>Custody Division Manual (CDM) section 5-03/060.00</u>, <u>"Response to Inmate Medical Emergencies</u>." While the CDM directs the use of Narcan on an unresponsive person in custody, the manual does not include a list of symptoms associated with opioid overdoses. <u>Field Operations Directive 17-002</u>, lists signs of an overdose, and should those signs be included in the CDM with a directive to use Narcan if any of the symptoms are present.

Given the frequency of overdoses and availability of drugs within its custodial facilities, the Sheriff's Department has also placed Narcan in locations readily available for people in custody to access, taught them how to administer Narcan if they see any of other people in custody suffering from overdose, and encouraged them to do so. According to Sheriff's Department reports, from January 1, 2023, through March 31, 2023, 90 doses of Narcan were administered to 41 people in custody in the jails, of whom 40 survived and only one died. Sheriff's Department staff administered Narcan in 28 of these incidents, Custody Health Services administered Narcan in 21,

and other people in custody administered Narcan in six. Several incidents involved multiple doses of Narcan administered by different responders.

The Sheriff's Department appears to follow a practice of not conducting further investigation into or asking questions of people in custody who administer Narcan to or receive it from another inmate, in hopes that such a "don't ask, don't tell" approach will encourage people in custody to respond quickly to an overdose and avoid any deterrence from fear of repercussions for taking or possessing drugs in custody. The Office of Inspector General supports this approach. The Sheriff's Department should, of course, continue to investigate the persistent problem of drugs in custodial facilities generally and has a variety of available methods to do so, as discussed in a recent report by the Chief Executive Office to the Board of Supervisors.<sup>19</sup> Refraining from investigating incidents in which one person in custody administers Narcan to another should not significantly limit the investigation of drugs in the jails, given that only six such incidents occurred over the latest three-month period and that a policy of investigating would likely lead people in custody to avoid giving Narcan for fear of discovery and punishment, which would similarly frustrate investigations while also leading to significantly more overdose deaths.

**Narcan in patrol.** Although many patrol deputies carry Narcan, the Sheriff's Department does not mandate it. The Sheriff's Department issues medical kits to patrol deputies but it is unclear that kits are issued to every patrol deputy. The kit contains two doses of Narcan nasal spray, gloves, a penlight to check a person's pupils, and an Ambu Bag self-inflating resuscitator to conduct other life-saving measures. Patrol stations have Narcan readily available to replace nasal sprays which have expired or have been used by deputies in the field. In the event, stations are running low on supplies, station personnel will reach out to the Special Enforcement Bureau's Emergency Operation personnel to replenish supplies. The Office of Inspector General recommends the adoption of a policy mandating that each patrol deputy be issued a kit, that the kit have two Narcan doses in it at the outset of each shift, and mandate that the kit be carried during each patrol shift.

The policy for administering Narcan to persons by patrol deputies is ambiguous. While the signs of an opioid overdose are included in <u>Field Operations Directive 17-002</u>, deputies are directed to administer Narcan in the event the patient "is not breathing and is unresponsive," or if the deputy "suspect[s] the patient is unconscious due to an opioid overdose." The Office of Inspector General recommends that the policy direct deputies to administer Narcan if any of the signs of an opioid overdose are present.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See <u>Report of the Chief Executive Office, Enhancing Illegal Drug Detection in the Jails And Courts (Aug. 17, 2022)</u>.

**Using Narcan before subjects are unresponsive.** One recent incident raises questions about whether the Sheriff's Department's policy may encourage deputies to be too cautious in some situations. Sheriff's Department training instructs deputies to decide whether to administer Narcan based on the totality of the circumstances. For example, an unconscious child lying in a pool without drugs or other narcotic paraphernalia present might not merit application of Narcan, while an unconscious person surrounded by narcotic paraphernalia might. In the closed environment of custody, symptoms of respiratory depression or unresponsiveness in an otherwise healthy person in custody usually result from the ingestion of narcotics

On June 8, 2022, a deputy assigned to the Altadena Station conducted a traffic stop and, upon discovering that the driver had an outstanding felony warrant, placed him in handcuffs and sat him in the back of her patrol vehicle. Up to this point, the man had been alert and responsive to the deputy's questions. The deputy proceeded to search the driver's vehicle, and when backup deputies arrived shortly thereafter, they saw the man exhibiting signs of distress in the back of the patrol vehicle. When deputies opened the patrol door, they saw a white powdery substance on the backseat and the floorboard of the patrol vehicle.

Deputies took the man out of the backseat and sat him on a nearby curb. They saw the man had blood around his mouth and was attempting to swallow something. The deputies called for paramedics. While waiting for the paramedics, the deputies asked the man to spit out whatever was in his mouth. The man spat out a small clear plastic baggy containing a white powdery substance. The man was alert and somewhat responsive and obeyed the deputies' orders. While the man began to exhibit some signs of an opioid overdose, including becoming less responsive to deputies as the encounter continued, he was not in obvious respiratory distress. Deputies discussed whether they should administer Narcan but ruled it out because they believed it should only be used on persons who were unconscious, and the man was still alert and conscious. Within minutes of this discussion, Pasadena Fire Department personnel arrived on scene and began to take over the care of the man. When the deputies handed over the care of the man to the fire officials, the man was still conscious. The fire officials transported the man to a nearby hospital, where he was pronounced dead.

At the Critical Incident Review, Sheriff's Department's members discussed conducting further research into this issue to see if deputies should have administered Narcan when the man was still conscious and alert but was having some evident medical distress from swallowing narcotics. The Department of Public Health's standing order authorizes deputies to administer Narcan when a person is experiencing respiratory depression or is unresponsive. In similar situations, where the person was in the Sheriff's Department's custody facilities, the Sheriff's Department has reported the use of Narcan when signs of opioid overdose are present even absent respiratory distress and when the person is not completely unresponsive. There are times that Sheriff's Department custodial staff have waited for medical staff to administer Narcan but, unlike in the field, medical staff are available at the jail facilities.

The Office of Inspector General agrees that the Sheriff's Department evaluate whether their training, policy and authorization should be modified to allow administration of Narcan on a person that is in evident medical distress from ingestion of drugs, although remains responsive and not in respiratory distress, and in what circumstances. In doing so, the Sheriff's Department should work with the Department of Public Health, the Department of Health Services, and any other relevant County stakeholder or medical expert in crafting policy on administering medication. In any such revision, the Sheriff's Department should bear in mind that any training and policy on this matter has to be clear enough to follow to ensure deputies in the field have a proper understanding and uniform direction as to what to do in a range of situations. Any policy allowing for the administration of Narcan to responsive subjects must also address questions of consent, and how deputies should respond if the person does not consent to medication. Finally, the Sheriff's Department may account for the ready (and expanding) availability of Narcan, as the United States Food and Drug Administration in March 2023 approved Narcan to be sold over the counter, without a prescription.<sup>20</sup>

# **CUSTODY DIVISION**

# **Distribution of Thermal Garments**

Though the Los Angeles Sheriff's Department aspires to "provide and maintain comfortable temperatures within all jail facilities,"<sup>21</sup> temperatures in Los Angeles County jail facilities are subject to significant seasonal temperature variation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> U.S. Food & Drug Administration, "FDA Approves First Over-the-Counter Naloxone Nasal Spray." <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-first-over-counter-naloxone-nasal-spray</u> (Accessed April 11, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policy and Procedures*, 3-06/035.00, "Heating, Cooling, and Ventilation of Facilities."

During summer months, the seasonal rise in temperature often causes overheated conditions within jail facilities, which have historically faced challenges posed by outdated facilities, including insufficient air conditioning and maintenance issues. Despite these challenges, the Sheriff's Department reports it has taken "alternative measures ... to compensate for the uncomfortable temperature[s],"<sup>22</sup> including placing industrial fans in living units, distributing ice, and increasing the frequency of shower programming.

Similarly, during winter months, Sheriff's Department staff and people in custody experience periods of prolonged cold within jail facilities. During the first quarter of 2023, Los Angeles County experienced unprecedented winter storms,<sup>23</sup> the effects of which were also experienced by persons in custody. Consequently, Office of Inspector General staff received an increased number of complaints by people in custody of extreme cold.

Office of Inspector General monitors observed this precipitous decrease in temperature during routine site visits. Monitors noted temperatures in some areas of the jails as low as 58 degrees Fahrenheit and observed people in custody utilizing plastic garbage bags as blankets and sleeping in plastic garbage bins to shelter from the cold. Sheriff's Department executives responded to substantial heating system malfunctions within the downtown jail facilities, and, during the late fall of 2022 and the early winter of 2023, two people who died in custody experienced symptoms consistent with hypothermic arrest prior to their deaths.

To mitigate these living conditions, many people in custody have requested longsleeved thermal undergarments. The standard issue of clothing and bedding for people in custody includes one uniform, consisting of a short-sleeved shirt and pants, one short-sleeved undershirt, and one blanket.<sup>24</sup> While individual facilities may have unit orders that allow people in custody to have additional clothing based on weather

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policy and Procedures*, 3-06/035.00, "Heating, Cooling, and Ventilation of Facilities."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See Los Angeles Times, Winter storms likely to bring Los Angeles its longest cold snap in almost 20 years," (February 28, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Manual of Policy and Procedures, 5-11/060.00, "Bedding, Linen, and Clothing Exchange."

conditions,<sup>25</sup> the Custody Division Manual outlines that the Sheriff's Department may "provide blankets, jackets, [and] extra clothing," to ameliorate cold temperatures.<sup>26</sup>

In response to Office of Inspector General inquiries regarding the issuance of thermal undergarments, Sheriff's Department staff noted the following distributions:

- approximately 30 thermal tops issued to people in custody at North County Correctional Facility (NCCF),
- approximately 300 thermal tops and bottoms issued to people in custody at Men's Central Jail (MCJ),
- approximately 300 thermal tops and bottoms issued to people in custody at Twin Towers Correctional Facility (TTCF),
- approximately 300 thermal tops and bottoms issued to people in custody at Century Regional Detention Facility (CRDF),
- approximately 30 thermal tops issued to people in custody at Pitches Detention Center North (PDC North), and
- approximately 30 thermal tops issued to people in custody at Pitches Detention Center South (PDC South).

Individuals who presently receive thermal undergarments in these facilities based on medical need, classification, or trustee status have stated to Office of Inspector General staff that they often receive undergarments that are destroyed or soiled.

In response to questions regarding the practicability of thermal undergarment distribution, the Sheriff's Department estimated that it would need to purchase approximately 550,000 thermal tops and bottoms in order to issue a thermal undergarment set to the approximate 13,500 people in custody presently housed within Los Angeles County jail facilities. The Sheriff's Department estimated that this would cost approximately \$3.1 million.

However, as of April 5, 2023, the Sheriff's Department confirmed that it has a total of approximately 315,000 thermal tops and bottoms in inventory that are not being distributed to people in custody. Sheriff's Department staff have indicated that thermal undergarments are not presently distributed to people in custody in general population, as thermal undergarment distribution is not mandated by Title 15, and because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Manual of Policy and Procedures, 5-06/010.05, "Allowable Inmate Property – Male Inmates" and Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Manual of Policy and Procedures, 5-06/010.10, "Allowable Inmate Property – Female Inmates."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policy and Procedures*, 3-06/035.00, "Heating, Cooling, and Ventilation of Facilities."

Sheriff's Department command staff believe that people in custody would destroy the thermal undergarments and create security concerns by concealing contraband in thermal undergarments. However, the Office of Inspector General sees little logic in holding large stores of thermal undergarments while people in custody experience precariously low temperatures.

As the Custody Division Manual requires that the Sheriff's Department undertake efforts to distribute clothing or linens to compensate for cold temperatures,<sup>27</sup> the Office of Inspector General strongly recommends that the Sheriff's Department formulate a plan well before next winter for how to monitor temperatures inside units and to distribute these thermal undergarments to people in custody to alleviate uncomfortably, and sometimes dangerously, cold conditions of confinement.

# **Availability of Personal Hygiene Products**

California Code of Regulations Title 15, Minimum Standards for Local Detention Facilities, section 1265 provides that "[e]ach person to be held over 24 hours who is unable to supply themself with the following personal care items, because of either indigency or the absence of a canteen, shall be issued: (a) toothbrush, (b) [toothpaste], (c) soap, (d) comb, and (e) shaving implements," within 12 hours of being assigned housing. The Sheriff's Department Custody Division Manual expands upon the statutory requirement under Title 15, requiring that the hygiene items enumerated in section 1265, as well as deodorant and shampoo, be provided to all people in custody at the time of initial housing.<sup>28</sup>

Following initial admission, people in custody are expected to supply themselves with personal care and hygiene items through commissary, unless they are indigent.<sup>29</sup> Indigent people in custody who are unable to purchase personal care and hygiene items through commissary are to be "provided the needed item upon request" from module

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policy and Procedures*, 3-06/035.00, "Heating, Cooling, and Ventilation of Facilities."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policy and Procedures*, 5-13/090.00, "Personal Care Items and Supplies for Inmates."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Per Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department Policy, "[a]n inmate shall be considered indigent if he has less on account with the cashier than the standardized established price needed to purchase an indigent [hygiene] kit." *See* Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policies and Procedures*, 5-13/080/00, "Indigent Inmates."

officers, who are responsible for ensuring that "personal care items are available for distribution upon request."<sup>30</sup>

Custody Division staff distribute soap, toilet paper, and sanitary napkins to people in custody as needed, regardless of indigency. Yet Office of Inspector General monitors routinely observe a lack of personal hygiene supplies, including soap and toilet paper, in the possession of persons in custody. A significant portion of the complaints received by Office of Inspector General monitors concern to the lack of personal hygiene items in jails.

Indigent people in custody often report being unable to obtain personal hygiene items from module officers. Custody Division staff are generally responsive to these concerns, and frequently attempt to provide these hygiene products to indigent people in custody immediately. However, staff sometimes report that hygiene products are unavailable, and that indigent people in custody will have to wait until floor stock is replenished or new shipments arrive to receive hygiene items. Indigent people in custody have reported that these shortages often result in them being unable to access hygiene items for days at a time.

Non-indigent people in custody additionally encounter challenges in acquiring personal hygiene products. Keefe Commissary Network is the sole commissary vendor for Los Angeles County Jails, and the only provider by which non-indigent people in custody can purchase personal hygiene items. People in custody report that personal hygiene items are frequently out of stock and unavailable to order from the Keefe Commissary Network.

Moreover, Keefe Commissary Network sells products to people in custody at significant markups that have been challenged in a recent proposed class-action lawsuit, filed in Los Angeles County on April 4, 2023.<sup>31</sup> The plaintiffs, a person formerly incarcerated at Men's Central Jail and an individual who paid commissary fees for loved ones incarcerated in Los Angeles County Jails, cite a 2019 Los Angeles County Office of Inspector General presentation<sup>32</sup> outlining inflated commissary costs in arguing that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, *Manual of Policy and Procedures*, 5-13/090.00, "Personal Care Items and Supplies for Inmates."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Johnson v. County of Los Angeles, Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See the Office of Inspector General's presentation to the Los Angeles County Civilian Oversight Commission, "Inmate Welfare Fund" (September 17, 2019).

markups amount to an unlawful tax on incarcerated people. In a recent interview with the Los Angeles Times, Sheriff Luna acknowledged that these markups were "unfair."<sup>33</sup>

There are widespread concerns among people in custody, Custody Division staff, and advocates that the lack of availability and distribution of personal hygiene items exacerbate unsanitary conditions of confinement within Los Angeles County jail facilities. The Office of Inspector General will continue to monitor hygiene and cleanliness within Los Angeles County jail facilities and respond to complaints brought by people in custody relating to the availability of personal hygiene products.

# **In-Custody Deaths**

Between the beginning of this calendar year and March 31, 2023, eight individuals died while in the care and custody of the Sheriff's Department. While many of the manner of death classifications for the 2023 in-custody deaths have not yet been determined by the Los Angeles County Medical Examiner-Coroner, preliminary findings suggest four deaths were due to natural causes, two deaths were accidents (suspected overdoses), and two deaths were suicides.<sup>34</sup>

On January 1, 2023, changes to the Penal Code imposed by AB 2671 went into effect, including the addition of <u>section 10008</u>, which requires state and local correctional facilities to report of information on in-custody deaths, including the manner and means of the death, within 10 days of the death, with updates required within 30 days of any change in that information.<sup>35</sup> The law requires that the information be posted on the custodial <u>agency's website</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See Los Angeles Times, Lawsuits target 'extortionate' phone calls, commissary items in California Jails (April 5, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> In the past, the Office of Inspector General has reported on the preliminary cause of death as determined by Sheriff's Department and Correctional Health Services personnel. Because the information provided is preliminary, the Office of Inspector General has determined that the better practice is to report on the manner of death. There are five manner of death classifications: (1) natural, (2) accident, (3) suicide, (4) homicide, and (5) undetermined. Natural causes include illnesses and disease and thus deaths due to COVID-19 are classified as natural. Overdoses may be accidental or the result of a purposeful ingestion, the Sheriff's Department and Correctional Health Services (CHS) use evidence gathered during the investigation to make a preliminary determination as to whether an overdose is accidental or purposeful. Where the suspected cause of death is reported by the Sheriff's Department and CHS, the Office of Inspector General will include this in parentheses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> There is a 10-day delay permitted if the agency is not able to timely locate the next-of-kin to make the death notification.

Between January 1, 2023 and March 31, 2023, eight individuals died while in the care and custody of the Sheriff's Department. Of these eight decedents, two died at Men's Central Jail (MCJ), one died at North County Correctional Facility (NCCF), and five died in hospitals to which they had been transported.

Office of Inspector General staff attended the CSD Administrative Death Reviews for each of the eight in-custody deaths.

The following summaries, arranged in chronological order, provide brief descriptions of each in-custody death:

On January 10, 2023, an individual was found unresponsive and presenting with blunt force trauma in a hallway at NCCF. Preliminary findings, later confirmed by CCTV, indicated that the individual died by suicide after climbing and jumping off a second story railing. Responding staff did not render emergency aid, citing the extent of the individual's injuries. Preliminary manner of death: Suicide.

On January 11, 2023, an individual was found unresponsive at MCJ after people in custody alerted deputies to a man down due to medical emergency. Sheriff's Department staff, CHS staff, and paramedics all rendered emergency aid, but the individual was pronounced dead at the scene. Preliminary manner of death: Accidental (suspected overdose).

On January 19, 2023, a registered nurse conducting follow-up visits at Twin Towers Correctional Facility (TTCF) found an individual in a weakened and immobile state. Medical staff made contact with the individual two more times prior to rendering emergency aid and contacting paramedics, who transported the individual to Los Angeles General Medical Center (formerly "LAC+USC Medical Center"), where he was pronounced dead the same day. The individual had been in the Inmate Reception Center (IRC) for approximately 35 hours prior to receiving a permanent housing assignment during his intake on December 28, 2022, and was briefly housed in a general population setting despite exhibiting signs of mental illness. Preliminary manner of death: Natural.

On February 15, 2023, an individual died at Los Angeles General Medical Center (LA General Medical Center) after being transported from Twin Towers Correctional Facility Correctional Treatment Center (TTCF-CTC) on February 6, 2023, for a higher level of care. Preliminary manner of death: Natural.

On March 15, 2023, an individual died at LA General Medical Center after being transported from MCJ on February 14, 2023, for a higher level of care. Preliminary manner of death: Natural.

On March 18, 2023, an individual died at LA General Medical Center after being transported from TTCF-CTC on March 1, 2023, for a higher level of care. This individual presented with hypothermia and had a temperature of 87.6 degrees upon arrival at LAC+USC Preliminary manner of death: Natural.

On March 23, 2023, an individual was found unresponsive at MCJ after people in custody alerted Deputies to a man down due to medical emergency. Emergency aid was rendered by Sheriff's Department staff, CHS staff, and paramedics, but the individual was pronounced dead at the scene. Preliminary manner of death: Accidental (suspected overdose).

On March 25, 2023, an individual died at Cedars-Sinai Hospital after being transported from West Hollywood Station Jail on March 19, 2023, where the individual was found hanging from his bunk during a Title-15 check. Preliminary manner of death: Suicide.

# **Office of Inspector General Site Visits**

The Office of Inspector General regularly conducts site visits and inspections at Sheriff's Department custodial facilities to identify matters requiring attention. In the first quarter of 2023, Office of Inspector General personnel completed 113 site visits, totaling 335.5 monitoring hours, to IRC, CRDF, MCJ, TTCF, TTCF-CTC, NCCF, and PDC North.<sup>36</sup>

As part of the Office of Inspector General's jail monitoring, Office of Inspector General staff attended 161 Custody Services Division (CSD) executive and administrative meetings and met with division executives for 248.5 monitoring hours related to uses of force, in-custody deaths, COVID-19 policies and protocols, Prison Rape Elimination Act (PREA) audits, and general conditions of confinement.

# **Taser Use in Custody**

The Office of Inspector General continues to compile the number of times the Sheriff's Department has employed a Taser in custodial settings. Below are the numbers from April 2021 through March 2023. The numbers below were gathered from the Sheriff's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Any site visit or meeting related to Prison Rape Elimination Act (PREA) audits are included.

Department's *Monthly Force Synopsis*, which the Sheriff's Department produces and provides to the Office of Inspector General each month.<sup>37</sup>

Month	Number of Times a Taser was Employed	
April 2021	5	
May 2021	3	
June 2021	11	
July 2021	5	
August 2021	4	
September 2021	3	
October 2021	6	
November 2021	3	
December 2021	4	
January 2022	2	
February 2022	3	
March 2022	6	
April 2022	4	
May 2022	6	
June 2022	10	
July 2022	4	
August 2022	6	
September 2022	5	
October 2022	3	
November 2022	4	
December 2022	2	
January 2023	2	
February 2023	0	
March 2023	3	

#### **Use-of-Force Incidents in Custody**

The Office of Inspector General monitors the Sheriff's Department's use-of-force incidents, institutional violence,<sup>38</sup> and assaults on Sheriff's Department or CHS personnel by people in custody. The Sheriff's Department reports the following numbers for the uses of force and assaultive conduct within its CSD. The Sheriff's Department is still verifying the accuracy of the reporting of incidents that occurred subsequent to September 30, 2022.<sup>39</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The Office of Inspector General is not opining on whether the use of the Taser in each of these incidents was permissible under the Sheriff's Department's policies or if the Taser was employed lawfully.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Institutional violence is defined as assaultive conduct by a person in custody upon another person in custody.
<sup>39</sup> The Sheriff's Department recently provided information to the Office of Inspector General regarding some discrepancies in the reported data based upon its internal reporting systems. The Office of Inspector General will work with the Sheriff's Department to understand the reasons for the discrepancies and to ensure accurate reporting.

		Use of Force Incidents	Assaults on Personnel	Incidents of Institutional Violence
2018	1 <sup>st</sup> Quarter	546	144	871
	2 <sup>nd</sup> Quarter	592	173	905
	3 <sup>rd</sup> Quarter	530	131	988
	4 <sup>th</sup> Quarter	452	115	881
2019	1 <sup>st</sup> Quarter	501	122	769
	2 <sup>nd</sup> Quarter	478	132	794
	3 <sup>rd</sup> Quarter	525	164	858
	4 <sup>th</sup> Quarter	431	136	709
2020	1 <sup>st</sup> Quarter	386	131	717
	2 <sup>nd</sup> Quarter	274	91	496
	3 <sup>rd</sup> Quarter	333	111	560
	4 <sup>th</sup> Quarter	390	140	753
2021	1 <sup>st</sup> Quarter	373	143	745
	2 <sup>nd</sup> Quarter	430	145	698
	3 <sup>rd</sup> Quarter	450	153	746
	4 <sup>th</sup> Quarter	428	136	693
	1 <sup>st</sup> Quarter	384	137	659
2022	2 <sup>nd</sup> Quarter	428	118	811
7	3 <sup>rd</sup> Quarter	412	124	932

# HANDLING OF GRIEVANCES AND COMMENTS

# Office of Inspector General Handling of Comments Regarding Department Operations and Jails

The Office of Inspector General received 150 new complaints in the first quarter of 2023 from members of the public, people in custody and their family members and friends, community organizations and County agencies. Office of Inspector General Staff reviewed each complaint. One hundred and twenty of these grievances related to conditions of confinement within the Department's custody facilities, as shown in the charts below:

Grievances/ Incident Classification	Totals
Medical	76
Personnel Issues	12
Indecipherable	6
Living Condition	3

Showers	2
Food	2
Clothing/Bedding	2
Mental	2
Property	1
Mail	1
Education	1
Telephone	1
Visiting	1
Other	10
Total	120

Thirty complaints related to civilian contacts with Department personnel by people not in custody.

Complaint/ Incident Classification	Totals
Personnel	
Improper Tactics	5
Improper Search, Detention, Arrest	4
Harassment	4
Force	3
Discrimination	2
Discourtesy	1
Dishonesty	1
Neglect of Duty	1
Other	4
Service	
Response Time	1
Policy Procedures	2
Other	2
Total	30

### Handling of Grievances Filed by People in Custody

The Sheriff's Department has not fully implemented the use of tablet computers (tablets) in its jail facilities to capture information related to requests, and eventually grievances, filed by people in custody. The Office of Inspector General recommends that inoperable tablets be repaired or replaced and continues to recommend that the Sheriff's Department pursue full implementation of tablets throughout the CSD.

As reported in the Office of Inspector General's report on reform and oversight efforts for the fourth quarter of 2017,<sup>40</sup> the Sheriff's Department implemented a policy restricting the filing of duplicate and excessive grievances filed by people in custody.<sup>41</sup> The Office of Inspector General continues to raise concerns about the quality of grievance investigations and responses, which likely increases duplication and may prevent individuals from receiving adequate care while in Sheriff's Department custody.

### Sheriff's Department's Service Comment Reports

Under its policies, the Sheriff's Department accepts and reviews comments from members of the public about departmental service or employee performance.<sup>42</sup> The Sheriff's Department categorizes these comments into three categories:

- External Commendation: an external communication of appreciation for or approval of service provided by the Sheriff's Department members;
- Service Complaint: an external communication of dissatisfaction with the Sheriff's Department service, procedure or practice, not involving employee misconduct; and
- Personnel Complaint: an external allegation of misconduct, either a violation of law or Sheriff's Department policy, against any member of the Sheriff's Department.<sup>43</sup>

The following chart lists the number and types of comments reported for each station or unit.<sup>44</sup>

INVESTIGATING BUREAU/STATION/FACILITY	COMMENDATIONS	PERSONNEL COMPLAINTS	SERVICE COMPLAINTS
ADM: CENTRAL PATROL ADM HQ	1	0	0
ADM: DETECTIVE DIV HQ	1	0	0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Office of Inspector General, Los Angeles County *Reform and Oversight Efforts: Los Angeles County Sheriff's* Department, at 12 (Fourth Quarter 2017 report, issued Jan. 2018)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> <u>See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Custody Division Manual, 8-04/050.00, Duplicate or Excessive</u> <u>Filings of Grievances and Appeals, and Restrictions of Filing Privileges.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Manual of Policy and Procedures, 3-04/010.00, "Department Service Reviews."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> It is possible for an employee to get a Service Complaint and Personnel Complaint based on the same incident in question.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> This data was provided by the Sheriff's Department on April 4, 2023, and reflects the data provided as of that date.

INVESTIGATING BUREAU/STATION/FACILITY	COMMENDATIONS	PERSONNEL COMPLAINTS	SERVICE COMPLAINTS
ADM: NORTH PATROL ADM HQ	0	2	0
ADM: SOUTH PATROL ADM HQ	1	0	0
ALD: ALTADENA STN	3	0	0
AVA: AVALON STN	3	1	0
CAF: COMM & FLEET MGMT BUR	1	0	0
CCS: COMMUNITY COLLEGE BUREAU	5	0	0
CEN: CENTURY STN	5	7	2
CER: CERRITOS STN	2	2	1
CMB: CIVIL MANAGEMENT BUREAU	5	1	0
CNT: COURT SERVICES CENTRAL	0	4	0
COM: COMPTON STN	0	2	0
CPB: COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP BUREAU	0	2	0
CRD: CENTURY REG DETEN FAC	0	1	0
CRV: CRESCENTA VALLEY STN	7	2	0
CSB: COUNTY SERVICES BUREAU	0	6	0
CSN: CARSON STN	3	3	1
DSB: DATA SYSTEMS BUREAU	1	0	0
ELA: EAST LA STN	0	4	0
EST: COURT SERVICES EAST	1	1	0
FS: FISCAL ADMIN	1	0	0
HOM: HOMICIDE BUREAU	2	1	1
IND: INDUSTRY STN	6	4	2
IRC: INMATE RECEPTION CENTER	1	1	0
LCS: LANCASTER STN	8	18	2
LKD: LAKEWOOD STN	8	7	2
LMT: LOMITA STN	6	2	0
MAR: MARINA DEL REY STN	3	3	2
MCB: MAJOR CRIMES BUREAU	0	1	0
MCJ: MEN'S CENTRAL JAIL	0	1	0
MLH: MALIBU/LOST HILLS STN	15	12	4

INVESTIGATING BUREAU/STATION/FACILITY	COMMENDATIONS	PERSONNEL COMPLAINTS	SERVICE COMPLAINTS
MTL: METROLINK	0	1	0
NCF: NORTH CO. CORRECTL FAC	0	0	1
NWK: NORWALK REGIONAL STN	8	5	1
OSS: OPERATION SAFE STREETS BUREAU	1	1	0
PKB: PARKS BUREAU	1	0	0
PLM: PALMDALE STN	18	17	1
PRV: PICO RIVERA STN	1	1	1
SCV: SANTA CLARITA VALLEY STN	12	6	1
SDM: SAN DIMAS STN	10	3	1
SIB: SHERIFF'S INFORMATION BUREAU	0	1	0
SLA: SOUTH LOS ANGELES STATION	5	16	3
SO: PITCHESS SOUTH FACILITY	2	1	1
SSB: SCIENTIFIC SERV BUREAU	1	0	0
SVB: SPECIAL VICTIMS BUREAU	2	1	0
TEM: TEMPLE CITY STN	7	6	0
TSB: TRANSIT SERVICES BUREAU	1	1	0
TT: TWIN TOWERS	1	1	0
WAL: WALNUT/SAN DIMAS STN	3	6	1
WHD: WEST HOLLYWOOD STN	6	4	1
WST: COURT SERVICES WEST	1	4	1
Total :	169	163	30

# ALTERNATE PUBLIC DEFENDER

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	101,283,000	101,358,000	75,000
Intrafund Transfer	221,000	221,000	0
Revenue	6,755,000	6,755,000	0
Net County Cost	94,307,000	94,382,000	0
Budgeted Positions	361.0	361.0	0

	Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
ALTERNATE PUBLIC DEFENDER					
2023-24 Recommended Budget	101,283,000	221,000	6,755,000	94,307,000	361.0
Other Changes					
<ol> <li>Anti-Racism, Diversity, and Inclusion Initiative: Reflects one-time (\$65,000) and ongoing (\$10,000) funding to develop and implement a diversity dashboard to track workforce demographics and support recruitment efforts.</li> </ol>	75,000		-	75,000	
Total Changes	75,000	0	0	75,000	0
2023-24 Final Changes	101,358,000	221,000	6,755,000	94,382,000	361.0

### **DISTRICT ATTORNEY**

	FY 2023-24 Recommended	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	517,239,000	517,508,000	269,000
Intrafund Transfer	4,451,000	4,451,000	0
Revenue	237,257,000	236,432,000	(825,000)
Net County Cost	275,531,000	276,625,000	1,094,000
Budgeted Positions	2,161.0	2,159.0	(2.0)

	Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
DISTRICT ATTORNEY					
2023-24 Recommended Budget	517,239,000	4,451,000	237,257,000	275,531,000	2,161.0
1. Salary & Employee Benefits: Primarily reflects Board- approved increases in salaries and employee benefit.	1,000			1,000	0.0
2. Retiree Health Insurance: Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance costs from the amounts estimated in the 2023-24 Recommended Budget.	(411,000)	-	(33,000)	(378,000)	0.0
3. County Counsel Services: Reflects funding for 1.0 Senior Deputy County Counsel position to advise and assist the Employee Relations Unit.	538,000			538,000	0.0
<b>4. Eastlake Juvenile Office Relocation:</b> Reflects funding for lease costs associated with the Eastlake Juvenile Office relocation.	314,000			314,000	0.0
<ol> <li>Public Safety Sales Tax: Reflects a projected decrease in Proposition 172 revenue based on historical experience and anticipated trends.</li> </ol>			(619,000)	619,000	0.0
6. Workers' Compensation: Reflects the deletion of two positions (1.0 DDAII and 1.0 DDAII) and an increase in revenue to offset unavoidable increase in Workers' Compensation.	77,000		77,000		(2.0)
7. Various Realignments: Reflects the realignment of appropriation and revenue based on historical trends, current operations, and the changing needs of the Department.	(250,000)		(250,000)		0.0
Total Changes	269,000		(825,000)	1,094,000	(2.0)
2023-24 Final Changes	517,508,000	4,451,000	236,432,000	276,625,000	2,159.0

## FIRE DEPARTMENT

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Financing Sources	1,519,334,000	1,588,168,000	68,834,000
Financing Uses	1,519,334,000	1,588,168,000	68,834,000
Budgeted Positions	4,804.0	4,811.0	7.0

	Financing Uses (\$)	Financing Sources (\$)	Budg Pos
FIRE DEPARTMENT			
2023-24 Recommended Budget	1,519,334,000	1,519,334,000	4,804.0
Critical Issues			
1. Return-to-Work: Reflects funding for 4.0 positions to oversee return-to-work operations.	1,041,000		4.0
Administrative	277,000		1.0
Operations	764,000		3.0
<ol> <li>Refrigeration Mechanics: Reflects funding for 3.0 positions to maintain and service heating, ventilation, and air conditioning units.</li> </ol>	478,000		3.0
Special Services	478,000		3.0
Other Changes			
3. Grants: Reflects the addition and/or carryover of Board-approved grant funding.	33,035,000	33,035,000	
Executive	8,636,000	8,636,000	
Operations	24,399,000	24,399,000	
<ol> <li>Advanced Provider Response Unit: Reflects funding to continue the Advanced Provider Response Unit, offset by American Rescue Plan Act funding.</li> </ol>	2,881,000	2,881,000	
Emergency Medical Services	2,881,000	2,881,000	
<ol> <li>Salaries and Employee Benefits: Primarily reflects Board-approved increases in salaries and health insurance subsidies.</li> </ol>	41,432,000		
Administrative	16,000		
Emergency Medical Services	199,000		
Executive	235,000		
Leadership & Professional Standards	226,000		
Operations	38,567,000		
Prevention	2,124,000		
Special Services	65,000		

## FIRE DEPARTMENT

		Financing Uses (\$)	Financing Sources (\$)	Budg Pos
		(*)	(*)	100
6.	<b>Miscellaneous Earnings:</b> Reflects a transfer of funding set-aside to offset Board- approved increases in salaries and health insurance subsidies.	(41,432,000)		
	Administrative	(764,000)		
	Executive	(312,000)		
	Financing Elements	(36,998,000)		
	Operations	(3,358,000)		
7.	<b>Retiree Health Insurance:</b> Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance costs from the amounts estimated in the 2022-23 Recommended Budget.	(308,000)	(11,000)	
	Administrative	(8,000)		
	Emergency Medical Services	(1,000)		
	Executive	(12,000)		
	Health – Hazardous Materials	(15,000)		
	Leadership & Professional Standards	(4,000)		
	Lifeguard	(12,000)	(11,000)	-
	Operations	(220,000)		
	Prevention	(12,000)		
	Special Services	(24,000)		
8.	Other Salaries and Employee Benefits: Reflects funding for overtime expenses based on historical costs and future year projections.	11,632,000		
	Operations	11,632,000		
9.	<b>Lifeguard Operations:</b> Reflects funding from the General Fund to meet the requirements of the Beach and Ocean Rescue Services agreement.	151,000	151,000	
	Lifeguard	151,000	151,000	
10.	<b>Department Operations:</b> Reflects funding primarily to address mobile radios, the Coulson Helitanker, judgments and damages, and a Computer Aided Dispatch system.	19,946,000	9,349,000	
	Administrative	9,867,000		
	Emergency Medical Services	4,487,000	4,487,000	-
	Executive	8,000	8,000	
	Financing Elements		4,840,000	
	Operations	14,000	14,000	
	Special Services	5,570,000		
11.	<b>Tax Revenue:</b> Reflects increases in revenue from property taxes and special taxes based on current projections.		4,644,000	

## FIRE DEPARTMENT

	Financing Uses (\$)	Financing Sources (\$)	Budg Pos
Financing Elements		4,644,000	
<b>12.</b> Other Revenue: Reflects a net increase based on the latest projections for fee-for-service revenue, State revenue, and other revenue sources.		18,785,000	
Emergency Medical Services		1,000	
Executive		7,000	
Financing Elements		(258,000)	
Lifeguard		(71,000)	
Operations		14,252,000	
Prevention		2,882,000	
Special Services		1,972,000	
13. Reclassifications: Reflects funding for Board-approved reclassifications.	1,000		
Operations	1,000		
<b>14. Wellness Division</b> : Reflects the addition of 1.0 Battalion Chief to Fire's Wellness Division, offset by the deletion of 1.0 Chief Physician I.	(23,000)		
Leadership & Professional Standards	(377,000)		
Operations	354,000		
<b>15. Ministerial Changes</b> : Reflects routine ministerial changes between budget units in support of department operations.			
Administrative	(65,000)		
Executive	(9,000)		
Leadership & Professional Standards	(30,000)		
Health – Hazardous Materials	(6,000)		
Operations	(37,000)		
Prevention	(25,000)		
Special Services	172,000		
Total Changes	68,834,000	68,834,000	7.0
2023-24 Final Changes	1,588,168,000	1,588,168,000	4,811.0

# FIRE DEPARTMENT - LIFEGUARD

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	43,529,000	43,669,000	140,000
Intrafund Transfer	0	0	0
Revenue	0	0	0
Net County Cost	43,529,000	43,669,000	140,000
Budgeted Positions	0.0	0.0	0.0

		Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
	RE DEPARTMENT - LIFEGUARD 23-24 Recommended Budget	43,529,000	0	0	43,529,000	0.0
01	ther Changes					
1.	<b>General Operations:</b> Reflects an increase pursuant to the Board-approved operating agreement.	151,000			151,000	
2.	<b>Retiree Health Insurance:</b> Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance costs from the amounts estimated in the 2023-24 Recommended Budget.	(11,000)			(11,000)	
	Total Changes	140,000	0	0	140,000	0.0
20	23-24 Final Changes	43,669,000	0	0	43,669,000	0.0

### Public Safety Cluster + Final Changes + Fiscal Year 2023-24

# **GRAND JURY**

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	1,969,000	1,969,000	0
Intrafund Transfer	0	0	0
Revenue	4,000	4,000	0
Net County Cost	1,965,000	1,965,000	0
Budgeted Positions	5.0	5.0	0.0

		Gross	Intrafund		Net	
		Appropriation	Transfers	Revenue	County Cost	Budg
		(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	Pos
GRAND JURY						
2023-24 Recommended Budget		1,969,000	0	4,000	1,965,000	5.0
Other Changes						
1. No Changes						
	Total Changes	0	0	0	0	0.0
2023-24 Final Changes		1,969,000	0	4,000	1,965,000	5.0

# INDEPENDENT DEFENSE COUNSEL OFFICE

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	0	4,528,000	4,528,000
Intrafund Transfer	0	0	0
Revenue	0	0	0
Net County Cost	0	4,528,000	4,528,000
Budgeted Positions	0.0	18.0	18.0

	Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
INDEPENDENT DEFENSE COUNSEL OFFICE					
2023-24 Recommended Budget	0	0	0	0	0.0
Other Changes					
<ol> <li>Indigent Criminal Defense Appointments: Establishes the Independent Defense Counsel Office as the second level conflict legal representation office with the addition of 18.0 positions (1.0 Assistant Public Defender, 4.0 Deputy Public Defender III, 1.0 Supervising Legal Office Support Assistant, 5.0 Legal Office Support Assistant II, 2.0 Management Analyst, 1.0 Management Secretary V, 1.0 Network Systems Administrator I, 1.0 Information Systems Analyst II, 1.0 Senior Application Developer, and 1.0 Administrative Services Manager I) and related services and supplies, fully offset by transfer of funds from Trial Court indigent defense budget contract services (\$2,921,000) and Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) (\$986,000).</li> </ol>	3,907,000		_	3,907,000	18.0
2. Services & Supplies: Reflects ongoing funding for Client Case Management System licenses (\$450,000), facility maintenance costs (\$14,000), and miscellaneous legal expenses (\$52,000), as well as one-time funding for facility refurbishments (\$75,000) and consultant services (\$30,000), fully offset by transfer of funds from PFU.	621,000			621,000	
Total Changes	4,528,000	0	0	4,528,000	18.0
2023-24 Final Changes	4,528,000	0	0	4,528,000	18.0

# MEDICAL EXAMINER-CORONER

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	54,890,000	55,711,000	821,000
Intrafund Transfer	3,000	60,000	57,000
Revenue	2,297,000	2,308,000	11,000
Net County Cost	52,590,000	53,343,000	753,000
Budgeted Positions	261.0	262.0	1.0

		Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
М	EDICAL EXAMINER-CORONER	(*)				
20	23-24 Recommended Budget	54,890,000	3,000	2,297,000	52,590,000	261.0
1.	Salary & Employee Benefits: Primarily reflects Board- approved increases in salaries and employee benefit.	623,000		12,000	611,000	
2.	<b>Retiree Health Insurance:</b> Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance premiums from the amounts estimated in the 2023-24 Recommended Budget.	(45,000)		(1,000)	(44,000)	
3.	Services and Supplies: Reflects one-time funding for laboratory and examination software upgrade costs.	59,000			59,000	
4.	<b>Position to Address Increased Caseload:</b> Reflects funding for 1.0 Evidence Custodian to assist the laboratory and examination section with increased caseloads.	127,000			127,000	1.0
5.	<b>State Homeland Security Grant:</b> Reflects Board- approved funding provided by the Department of Homeland Security for emergency incident management equipment.	57,000	57,000			
	Total Changes	821,000	57,000	11,000	753,000	1.0
20	23-24 Final Changes	55,711,000	60,000	2,308,000	53,343,000	262.0

### **PROBATION DEPARTMENT**

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	1,059,218,000	1,060,940,000	1,722,000
Intrafund Transfer	4,342,000	4,342,000	0
Revenue	384,917,000	388,103,000	3,186,000
Net County Cost	669,959,000	668,495,000	(1,464,000)
Budgeted Positions	5,520.0	5,509.0	(11.0)

		Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
Ρ	ROBATION DEPARTMENT					
20	23-24 Recommended Budget	1,059,218,000	4,342,000	384,917,000	669,959,000	5,520.0
1.	<b>Retiree Health Insurance:</b> Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance premiums from the amounts estimated in the 2023-24 Recommended Budget.	(1,653,000)		(189,000)	(1,464,000)	
	Support Services	(177,000)			(177,000)	
	Juvenile Institutions Service	(884,000)			(884,000)	
	Field Services	(417,000)		(189,000)	(228,000)	
	Special Services	(175,000)			(175,000)	
2.	<b>Information Systems Bureau (ISB) Positions:</b> Reflects the addition of 3.0 ISB positions; offset by the deletion of 4.0 vacant budgeted ISB positions and a reduction in other charges. Also includes one-time funding for a juvenile data analytics/architect consultant; fully offset by one-time growth revenue.	441,000		403,000	38,000	(1.0)
	Support Services	441,000		403,000	38,000	(1.0)
3.	Administration Positions: Reflects the addition of 12.0 positions to help strengthen the administrative support for payroll and recruitment; offset by the deletion of. 21.0 vacant budgeted positions and a reduction in services and supplies.	(38,000)			(38,000)	(9.0)
	Support Services	810,000			810,000	3.0
	Juvenile Institutions Service	(429,000)			(429,000)	(5.0)
	Field Services	(148,000)			(148,000)	(2.0)
	Special Services	(271,000)			(271,000)	(5.0)
4.	<b>Position Adjustment:</b> Reflects the addition of 1.0 Secretary position to provide administrative support for Juvenile Special Services Bureau programs; fully offset by the deletion of 2.0 vacant budgeted positions.					(1.0)
	Field Services					(1.0)
	Special Services					

# **PROBATION DEPARTMENT**

	Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
5. Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment (FFEs): Reflects an increase in services and supplies for FFEs to provide home-like furnishing at the juvenile halls; fully offset by one-time growth revenues.	1,676,000	<u>.</u>	1,676,000	<u>.</u>	
Juvenile Institutions Service	1,676,000		1,676,000		
6. Education Transition Services: Reflects funding for the Education Transition Services contract with LACOE under the Family First Transition Act; fully offset by the Funding Certainty Grant revenue.	1,296,000		1,296,000		
Special Services	1,296,000		1,296,000		
Total Changes	1,722,000	0	3,186,000	(1,464,000)	(11.0)
2023-24 Final Changes	1,060,940,000	4,342,000	388,103,000	668,495,000	5,509.0

# **PUBLIC DEFENDER**

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	304,916,000	306,403,000	1,487,000
Intrafund Transfer	407,000	407,000	0
Revenue	32,028,000	32,191,000	163,000
Net County Cost	272,481,000	273,805,000	1,324,000
Budgeted Positions	1,194.00	1,194.0	0

	Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
PUBLIC DEFENDER			• •		
2023-24 Recommended Budget	304,916,000	407,000	32,028,000	272,481,000	1,194.0
Other Changes					
1. Retiree Health Insurance: Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance premiums from the amounts estimated in the 2023-24 Recommended Budget.	(108,000)		(4,000)	(104,000)	
2. Anti-Racism, Diversity, and Inclusion Initiative: Reflects one-time (\$65,000) and ongoing (\$10,000) funding to develop and implement a diversity dashboard to track workforce demographics and support recruitment efforts.	75,000			75,000	
<ol> <li>Services &amp; Supplies: Reflects ongoing funding for additional office space at the East Los Angeles Courthouse (\$293,000), as well as one-time (\$1,000,000) and ongoing (\$60,000) funding for the Department's warehouse operations at the Hall of Records.</li> </ol>	1,353,000			1,353,000	
<ol> <li>Homeless Initiative: Reflects an increase in Measure H funding for the Criminal Record Clearing Project (Strategy D6).</li> </ol>	167,000		167,000		
Total Changes	1,487,000	0	163,000	1,324,000	0
2023-24 Final Changes	306,403,000	407,000	32,191,000	273,805,000	1,194.0

### Public Safety Cluster + Final Changes + Fiscal Year 2023-24

### SHERIFF

	FY 2023-24 Recommended	FY 2023-24 Recommended	Variance
Appropriation	3,849,071,000	3,899,252,000	50,181,000
Intrafund Transfer	118,164,000	117,075,000	(1,089,000)
Revenue	1,978,542,000	1,974,959,000	(3,583,000)
Net County Cost	1,752,365,000	1,807,218,000	54,853,000
Budgeted Positions	17,481.0	17,501.0	20.0

	Gross	Intrafund	<b>D</b>	Net	Duda
	Appropriation (\$)	Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
HERIFF	(*)	(*)	(*/	(*/	
023-24 Recommended Budget	3,849,071,000	118,164,000	1,978,542,000	1,752,365,000	17,481.0
<b>Salaries and Employee Benefits:</b> Reflects Board- approved increases in salaries and health insurance subsidies.	129,000		5,000	124,000	
General Support	129,000		5,000	124,000	
<b>Retiree Health Insurance:</b> Reflects a projected decrease in retiree health insurance premiums from th amounts estimated in the 2023-24 Recommended Budget.	(3,639,000) e	(88,000)	(150,000)	(3,401,000)	
Patrol Clearing					
Patrol – Specialized and Unallocated (S&U)	(1,209,000)		(51,000)	(1,158,000)	
Detective	(207,000)		(9,000)	(198,000)	
Administration	(178,000)		(8,000)	(170,000)	
Custody	(998,000)		(42,000)	(956,000)	
Court	(441,000)		(19,000)	(422,000)	
General Support	(499,000)		(21,000)	(478,000)	
County Services	(107,000)	(88,000)		(19,000)	
Homeless Outreach Services (HOST): Reflects one- time overtime funding for work of HOST teams in Supervisorial District 5.	776,000			776,000	
Patrol Clearing					
Patrol – Unincorporated Areas (UA)	776,000			776,000	
Public Safety Sales Tax (Prop 172): Reflects an anticipated decrease in public safety sales tax receipts			(3,431,000)	3,431,000	
Patrol - S&U			(1,724,000)	1,724,000	
Detective			(247,000)	247,000	

### SHERIFF

		Gross		_	Net	
		Appropriation (\$)	Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
	Administration	(Ψ) 	(Ψ) 	(29,000)	29,000	
	Custody			(1,147,000)	1,147,000	
	General Support			(284,000)	284,000	
5.	<b>Network Infrastructure:</b> Reflects one-time funding in the General Support Budget for year one costs associated with the replacement of failing network equipment located at approximately 70 Sheriff's Data Network locations throughout the county.	2,700,000		-	2,700,000	
	General Support	2,700,000			2,700,000	
6.	Los Angeles Regional Interoperable Communications Systems (LARICS): Reflects funding in the General Support Budget for costs associated with the mobile radio replacement project and annual subscription fees for LARICS.	8,733,000		-	8,733,000	
	General Support	8,733,000			8,733,000	
7.	Additional Captains: Reflects an increase of 3.0 Captain positions in the Patrol Budget for the larger, high activity stations.	1,583,000			1,583,000	3.0
	Patrol Clearing					3.0
	Patrol – Specialized and Unallocated (S&U)	1,583,000			1,583,000	
8.	<b>Mental Evaluation Team (MET):</b> Reflects overtime funding in the Patrol – S&U Budget for costs associated with the addition of two METs.	478,000			478,000	
	Patrol Clearing					
	Patrol – S&U	478,000			478,000	
9.	<b>Custody - Network Upgrade:</b> Reflects one-time funding in the Custody Budget for year one costs associated with the replacement of failing network equipment in the county jail facilities which are critically essential for producing data to comply with the Department of Justice (DOJ) consent decree and various settlement agreements.	7,067,000		-	7,067,000	
	Custody	7,067,000			7,067,000	
10.	<b>DOJ Custody Compliance:</b> Reflects year two overtime funding for costs associated with implementation of three programs designed to provide near-term compliance with the outstanding provisions of the DOJ settlement within the jails: convert Pitchess Detention Center (PDC) North to Moderate Observation Housing (MOH); establish a Psychiatric Urgent Care unit; and implement a Medication Assisted Treatment program throughout the jail system, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	13,230,000		-	13,230,000	_
	Custody	13,230,000			13,230,000	

### SHERIFF

		Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
11.	<b>Custody – Professional Staff:</b> Reflects an increase of 14.0 cleaning crew and 5.0 records clerk positions in the Custody Budget which are critical for DOJ and Rutherford compliance, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	2,252,000	(4)	(\$/)	2,252,000	<u>19.0</u>
	Custody	2,252,000			2,252,000	19.0
12.	<b>Custody – Use of Force:</b> Reflects an increase of 8.0 Sergeant positions in the Custody Budget to address use of force incidents in the jails for compliance with the Rosas settlement agreement, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	2,577,000		-	2,577,000	8.0
	Custody	2,577,000			2,577,000	8.0
13.	Integrated Correctional Health Services (ICHS) Expansion – Mental Health Group Services: Reflects overtime funding for costs associated with security services for expansion of the Mental Health Group Services and out-of-cell programs for compliance with the DOJ consent decree, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	3,449,000		-	3,449,000	
	Custody	3,449,000			3,449,000	
14.	ICHS Expansion – Forensic In-Patient (FIP) Stepdown Program: Reflects overtime funding for costs associated with security services for expansion of the FIP Stepdown Program which are critical for DOJ and Rutherford compliance, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	8,707,000			8,707,000	
	Custody	8,707,000			8,707,000	
15.	<b>ICHS Expansion – Telehealth Program:</b> Reflects overtime funding for costs associated with security services for expansion of the telehealth providers in the jails for compliance with the DOJ consent decree, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	3,147,000		-	3,147,000	
	Custody	3,147,000			3,147,000	
16.	<b>Miscellaneous Adjustments:</b> Reflects the deletion of 1.0 Automotive Maintenance Assistant position, and realignment of appropriation, intrafund transfer and revenue categories to reflect operational needs more accurately.		274,000	(274,000)		(1.0)
	Administration					
	General Support					(1.0)
	Patrol – S&U	274,000	274,000			
	Patrol – UA	(274,000)		(274,000)		

## SHERIFF

	Gross Appropriation	Intrafund Transfers	Revenue	Net County Cost	Budg
<b>17. Position Adjustments:</b> Reflects addition of 1.0 position and restoration of 3.0 positions in the Administration Budget to reflect operational needs more appropriately, fully offset by the deletion of various positions.	(\$) 	<u>(\$)</u> 	(\$) 	(\$) 	<u>Pos</u> (1.0)
Administration	1,036,000			1,036,000	4.0
Custody	(431,000)			(431,000)	(2.0)
General Support	(128,000)			(128,000)	(1.0)
Patrol Clearing					(2.0)
Patrol - S&U	(477,000)			(477,000)	
<b>18. Contract Changes:</b> Reflects changes in positions, services and supplies, equipment, intra-fund transfer, and revenue in various budget units primarily due to requests by contract agencies in the prior year.	(1,008,000)	(1,275,000)	267,000		(8.0)
Patrol Clearing					1.0
Patrol – S&U	267,000		267,000		
County Services	(1,275,000)	(1,275,000)			(9.0)
Total Changes	50,181,000	(1,089,000)	(3,583,000)	54,853,000	20.0
2023-24 Final Changes	3,899,252,000	117,075,000	1,974,959,000	1,807,218,000	17,501.0

# **TRIAL COURT OPERATIONS**

	FY 2023-24 Recommended Budget	FY 2023-24 Final Changes	Variance
Appropriation	415,099,000	420,936,000	5,837,000
Intrafund Transfer	0	0	0
Revenue	82,935,000	82,935,000	0
Net County Cost	332,164,000	338,001,000	5,837,000
Budgeted Positions	50.0	50.0	0.0

	Gross Appropriation (\$)	Intrafund Transfers (\$)	Revenue (\$)	Net County Cost (\$)	Budg Pos
TRIAL COURT OPERATIONS		X · 7			
2023-24 Recommended Budget	415,099,000	0	82,935,000	332,164,000	50.0
Other Changes					
1. Indigent Defense Program Realignment: Reflects the realignment of funding to establish the Independent Defense Counsel Office (IDCO) as the second level conflict legal representation office.	(2,921,000)			(2,921,000)	
2. Indigent Defense Panel Professional Services Rate Increases: Reflects funding to address Court- approved rate increases for psychiatrists, psychologists, expert witnesses, and attorneys in adoption and contempt matters.	2,300,000			2,300,000	
3. Indigent Defense Panel Attorney Rate Increase: Reflects funding to increase indigent defense panel attorney rates twenty percent effective July 1. 2023, fully offset by fund transfer from the Provisional Financing Uses (PFU) Budget.	6,458,000			6,458,000	
Total Changes	5,837,000	0	0	5,837,000	0.0
2023-24 Final Changes	420,936,000	0	82,935,000	338,001,000	50.0